THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

---

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001598  
Civil Action No.: 2018-CP-40-00873

---

Jonathan Mart, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, ..... Respondent,

v.

Great Southern Homes, Inc., ..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Warren C. Powell, Jr.  
Chelsea J. Clark  
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC  
P.O. Box 61110  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 252-7693  
*Attorneys for Appellant*

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the lower court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Compel Arbitration and in doing so,

- I. Did the lower court err in finding and holding that an arbitration agreement in the third-party StrucSure Home Warranty, which was not drafted, signed or issued by the Appellant, should be construed as incorporated into the parties' Contract for Sale for purposes of interpreting the respective arbitration clauses contained in each written document?
- II. Did the lower court err in finding and holding that the parties intended that the two written agreements should be interpreted as one agreement when such would be contrary to the parties' intent as both documents contained merger clauses? (R. at 142, Miscellaneous, Para. b; R. at 194, Para. 10).
- III. Did the lower court err in finding and holding that an arbitration agreement contained in the third-party StrucSure Home Warranty applied to Respondent's causes of action asserted in the Complaint when the Respondent never invoked the StrucSure Home Warranty by filing a claim on the warranty within the context of this case?
- IV. Did the lower court err in finding the parties' Contract for Sale, "expressly incorporates the Express Limited Warranty into its terms"? (R. at 010).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin's order denying Appellant's motion to dismiss and compel arbitration. The action arises from the purchase of a house by Jonathan Mart ("Mart" or "Respondent") from Great Southern Homes, Inc. ("GSH" or "Appellant"). The parties entered into a Contract for Sale (the "Contract") on July 18, 2015 and closed on the house on December 18, 2015. On February 12, 2018, Mart filed a complaint on behalf of himself and others similarly situated<sup>1</sup> against GSH alleging breach of contract and unjust enrichment and seeking declaratory relief on the grounds that the contract allegedly contains a defective waiver of the implied warranty of habitability. (R. at 020–028). In response to the

---

<sup>1</sup> The Complaint is styled as a class action. However, class certification has yet to be brought before the court and Mart remains the sole plaintiff at this time.

Complaint and before filing an answer, GSH filed its Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on April 16, 2018. (R. at 091). GSH's Motion was based upon the arbitration provision in the Contract between the parties. Following briefing by the parties, Judge Benjamin heard arguments on June 13, 2018. (R. at 039). Judge Benjamin requested proposed orders and issued her Form-4 Order on June 15, 2018, stating that the matter was under advisement. (R. at 089, ll. 5–11; R. at 002). On July 26, 2018, Judge Benjamin issued the order denying GSH's motion to dismiss and compel arbitration. (R. at 015). GSH appealed that order on August 21, 2018. (R. at 334).

In her order, Judge Benjamin found that the parties' Contract for Sale applied to the claims asserted by Mart in his Complaint. (R. at 009–010). The trial court also found that the parties' Contract for Sale, "expressly incorporates the Express Limited Warranty into its terms." Additionally, the trial court also found that a separate warranty document issued by StrucSure Home Warranty, LLC ("StrucSure") of Denver, Colorado (the "Warranty") contained an arbitration provision that also applied to this case, despite the fact that Mart's Complaint contains no claim having been made on the StrucSure Warranty. *Id.* Applying both arbitration provisions to this case, Judge Benjamin concluded that neither could be enforced due to conflicting terms. Judge Benjamin's Order raises four primary issues on appeal.

First, whether the lower court erred in concluding that an arbitration agreement in this third-party Warranty which was not drafted, signed or issued by the Appellant, should be construed as part of the parties' Contract for Sale for purposes of interpreting the respective arbitration clauses contained in each of the two written documents. Second, whether the lower court erred in finding that the parties intended that the two agreements should be interpreted as one agreement when such would be contrary to the parties' express intent, as both documents contained merger clauses. (R. at 142, Miscellaneous, Para. b; R. at 194, Para. 10). Third, whether the lower court erred in finding that an arbitration agreement contained in the third-party Warranty applied to

Respondent's causes of action asserted in the Complaint when the Respondent never invoked the Warranty by filing a claim on the Warranty. Fourth, whether the lower court erred in finding the parties' Contract for Sale "expressly incorporates the Express Limited Warranty into its terms." (R. at 010).

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 18, 2015 Respondent Jonathan Mart entered a contract with Appellant such that the Appellant would build a home conforming with the plans and specifications attached to the contract. The parties' contract contains a merger clause in the Section entitled, "Miscellaneous", Subsection b which provides, "This contract embodies the entire agreement between seller and purchaser with respect to the property. No amendment or modification of this contract (including contracts for charges in construction "extras") shall be valid unless contained in a writing executed by both parties." (R. at 142, para. b). The parties' contract at the top of Page 1 provided in caps in bold print the following, "**CONTRACT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION (S.C. CODE 15-48-10) version 040215.**" [R. at 139].

The Limited Warranty described in the Contract for Sale states as follows:

**LIMITED WARRANTY:** The Seller shall furnish the Purchaser, at closing, with a limited warranty issued by a warranty company approved by the South Carolina Real Estate Commission. A sample copy of the warranty shall be available for inspection during reasonable business hours prior to closing at the office of the Seller. This limited warranty shall warrant workmanship for One (1) year and warrant the structure itself for Ten (10) years from date of closing. Said limited warranty shall be incorporated in the deed delivered at closing. Purchaser acknowledges that said limited warranty is not a maintenance agreement FOR QUALITY ASSURANCE PURPOSES WARRANTY VISITS MAY BE VIDEO W/AUDIO TAPED. [R. at 140].

The parties' Contract for Sale in bold print also provided:

**This Limited Warranty issued to the purchaser shall be in lieu of all other warranties, express or implied, any warranty of**

**habitability, suitability for residential purposes, merchantability, or fitness for a particular purpose is hereby excluded and disclaimed. Seller shall in no event be liable for consequential or punitive damages of any kind. There is no warranty whatsoever on trees, shrubs, grass, vegetation or erosion caused by lack thereof, nor on subdivision improvements, including but not limited to, streets, roads, sidewalks, sewer, drainage or utilities. Purchaser agrees to accept said limited warranty in lieu of all other rights or remedies, whether based on contract or tort. [R. at 140].**

On a separate page and in a separate section the parties' Contract of Sale provided the following arbitration provision:

**ARBITRATION:** Any dispute between the parties hereto arising out of this contract, related to the contract or the breach thereof, including without limitation, disputes relating to the property, improvements, or the condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration between three (3) arbitrators, one selected by each party, who shall mutually select the third arbitrator, pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code § 15-48-10, et Seq. [R. at 141].

The above Limited Warranty is the subject of Mart's Complaint while the foregoing Arbitration provision is the subject of this Appeal.

As to the Warranty issued to Mart, GSH did not draft it, sign it, or issue it and there is no evidence in the record suggesting that it did. (R. at 225). Home Warranty, LLC is the Warranty Administrator, although GSH supervises and performs repairs pursuant to its membership agreement with StrucSure. (R. at 194). Importantly, a separate insurance company becomes responsible for ensuring repairs are completed in the event that GSH becomes unable to perform or supervise repairs. (R. at 217). Any such failure on the part of GSH would be a matter between it and StrucSure, not between it and Mart, whose claims would lie against StrucSure. There is no claim in this case that GSH has ever defaulted on any such warranty claim.

The merger clause contained in the Warranty on Page 10, provides: “This Express Limited Warranty is separate and apart from any contracts between You and Your Builder, including any sales agreements.” This language on Page 1, Paragraph 10 goes on to include a merger provision that states no amendments to the Warranty are made unless there is a formal written and signed agreement. (R. at 194).

The Warranty provides, “If coverage is provided and the Builder is unable to perform one (1) and two (2) year warranty obligations, the Insurer becomes the Warrantor who performs the Builder’s warranty obligations. The Insurer is the Warrantor the entire coverage term (Years one (1) through ten (10)) for Major Structural Components.” (R. at 217).

The Warranty provides in Section 15 the terms of the arbitration and defines the scope of arbitration under the Warranty as claims “between Homeowner, Builder, the Administrator and the Insurer or any combination of the foregoing arising out of any defect or deficiency in the home or real the property on which the home is situated, the sale of the home by the Builder including any claim of breach of contract, negligence or intentional misrepresentation, or nondisclosure in the inducement, execution, or performance of any alleged . . . duty in good faith.” (R. at 215). This Section also makes it clear that binding arbitration “means You are waiving Your right to a trial by a judge and/or a jury.” (R. at 215).

However, at the end of the Arbitration section the StrucSure Home Warranty on Page 23 provides the following:

NOTE: For homes with FHA/VA financing only. For Homes with the original FHA or VA financing only, and not withstanding anything written above, You may elect judicial resolution of any disputes as an alternative to the Arbitration provision set forth in the Express Limited Warranty.

An examination of the Warranty reveals that it goes to great lengths to describe in detail what is covered under the warranty and how a claim is made. As an example, in Section 8,

Subsection 6.3 for wood, plastic and metal windows the StrucSure Home Warranty provides examples of an observation and a comment concerning whether the observation is a deficiency or not and what should be done, for example:

**OBSERVATION:** Malfunction of windows.

**DEFICIENCY:** Windows that do not operate in conformance with manufacturer's design standards are deficient.

**BUILDER CORRECTION:** The Builder shall consult with the manufacturer when necessary and make required adjustments so that the windows operate in accordance with the standard.

**OBSERVATION:** Double hung windows do not stay in place when open.

**DEFICIENCY:** Double hung windows are permitted to move with a two inch tolerance, up or down when put in an open position. Any excessive movement exceeding the tolerance is a Deficiency.

**BUILDER CORRECTION:** The Builder shall adjust such sash balances one time only during the first-year of warranty coverage. Where possible, the Builders shall instruct the Homeowner on the method of adjustment for future use.

**OBSERVATION:** Condensation or frost on window frames or glass panes.

**DEFICIENCY:** None. Window glass and frames will collect condensation on the frame and glass surface when humidity and temperature differences are present. Condensation is usually the result of temperature/humidity conditions in the Home.

**BUILDER CORRECTION:** None required.

(R. at 205).

Reference to the Warranty will show that great detail has been taken to describe the overview, exclusions, warranty workmanship/materials and delivery portion of systems coverage, warranty for site work and grading, drainage, and concrete, masonry, carpentry, thermal and moisture protection, finishes, including lath and plaster, gypsum, wallboard, hard surface flooring, resilient flooring, finished wood flooring, painting, wallcovering, and carpeting. Further, an examination of the Warranty also discloses detailed treatment concerning specialties, equipment, plumbing, mechanical systems, HVAC and ductwork, electrical systems, and other mechanical

systems. Sections 10–12 address how to request warranty performance and to make a claim for both workmanship and major structural defects. (R. at 212–214).

During the three years after Respondent’s closing on December 18, 2015, he has never made a claim on the StrucSure Home Warranty for any purpose related to this litigation. On February 12, 2018, Respondent entered suit demanding payment he claims is due him under the parties’ July 18, 2015 Contract for Sale in exchange for the waiver contained in the parties’ Contract for Sale. (R. at 017–028).

The issues raised by Mart’s Complaint relate only to defects he alleges in the sales contract between the parties. Mart makes no claim under the Warranty, does not name StrucSure as a party, and does not allege any defect in the home he purchased. Instead, he attacks the Contract and questions the legal sufficiency of using the StrucSure Home Warranty as consideration for waiver of an implied warranty. Such an attack on the Contract itself is covered by the Arbitration Provision in that Contract, not the Arbitration Provision contained in the Warranty which was never invoked in this case because Mart never filed any claim under that Warranty.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This appeal is brought pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-48-200(a)(1) which provides for immediate review upon the denial of a motion to compel arbitration. The arbitrability of a case such as this is a matter for judicial determination. *Wilson v. Willis*, 416 S.C. 395, 408; 786 S.E.2d 571, 577–78 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001)). The circuit court judge’s factual findings should not be reversed if there is evidence that reasonably supports the findings. *Id.*, 416 S.C. at 408, 786 S.E.2d at 578 (quoting *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009)). However, the judge’s legal determination is subject to *de novo* review on appeal. *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 6, 791 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2016) (citing *Gissel*,

382 S.C. at 240, 676 S.E.2d at 323). Both state and federal law and policy strongly support arbitration. See *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596; 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (citing *Tritech Elec., Inc. v. Frank M. Hall & Co.*, 343 S.C. 396, 540 S.E.2d 864 (Ct. App. 2000)); *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 408, 786 S.E.2d at 578 (quoting *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013)); see also *Mailsorce, LLC v. M. A. Bailey & Assocs.*, 356 S.C. 370, 375; 588 S.E.2d 639, 642 (Ct. App. 2003). Thus, where there is any doubt concerning the scope of arbitration, those doubts should be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 408, 786 S.E.2d at 578 (quoting *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013)). Furthermore, the “party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Wilson*, 416 S.C. at 408–09, 786 S.E.2d at 578 (quoting *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (internal punctuation omitted) (quoting *Hall v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, 413 S.C. 267, 271, 776 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct. App. 2015)).

## ARGUMENTS

The lower court erred in denying Appellant’s Motion to Compel Arbitration and in so doing:

- I. The lower court erred in finding and holding that an arbitration agreement in the third-party StrucSure Home Warranty which was not drafted, signed or issued by the Appellant should be construed as incorporated into the parties’ Contract for Sale for purposes of interpreting the respective arbitration clauses contained in each written document.
- II. The lower court erred in finding and holding that the parties intended that the two written agreements should be interpreted as one agreement when such would be contrary to the parties’ intent as both documents contained merger clauses. (R. at 142, Miscellaneous, Para. b; R. at 194, Para. 10).
- III. The lower court erred in finding and holding that an arbitration agreement contained in the third-party StrucSure Home Warranty applied to Respondent’s causes of action asserted in the Complaint when the Respondent never invoked the StrucSure Home Warranty by filing a claim on the Warranty within the context of this case.

- IV. The lower court erred in finding and holding the parties' Contract for Sale, "Expressly incorporates the Express Limited Warranty into its terms." (R. at 010).

The question before the court is whether two separate contracts, each with a distinct purpose and related arbitration provision, can be conflated to produce a result of no arbitration whatsoever. Appellant asserts that the lower court's conclusion that there should be no arbitration of Respondent's claims is erroneous and contrary to existing precedent. Should any one of the four arguments asserted above be correct, Appellant respectfully submits that the lower court's order should be reversed. The lower court erred in denying Appellant's motion to compel arbitration for the following reasons.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND HOLDING THAT AN ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IN THE THIRD-PARTY STRUCSURE HOME WARRANTY WHICH WAS NOT DRAFTED, SIGNED OR ISSUED BY THE APPELLANT SHOULD BE CONSTRUED AS INCORPORATED INTO THE PARTIES' CONTRACT FOR SALE FOR PURPOSES OF INTERPRETING THE RESPECTIVE ARBITRATION CLAUSES CONTAINED IN EACH WRITTEN DOCUMENT.

There are two agreements involved in this analysis. The first is the parties' July 18, 2015 Contract of Sale, and the second is, the StrucSure Express Limited Warranty. "The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language." *Harris v. Ideal Solutions, Inc.*, 385 S.C. 74, 682 S.E.2d 523 (Ct. App. 2009). The Respondent would prefer to focus on only the arbitration clauses contained in the two documents for this purpose. However, "Where the agreement in question is a written contract, the parties' intention must be gathered from the contents of the entire agreement and not from any particular clause thereof." *Thomas-McCain, Inc. v. Siter*, 268 S.C. 193, 197, 232 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1977) (citing *Bruce v. Blalock*, 241 S.C. 155, 127 S.E.2d 439 (1962); see also *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C.78, 93, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004).

Respondent's challenge of the parties' arbitration clause contained in their Contract for Sale is based upon his legal contention that these two written agreements are merged into one contract for purposes of interpretation. Indeed, Respondent does not contend that the arbitration clause in each of these two agreements, viewed separately, are unconscionable or lack any essential term. Respondent argues that the two written documents, by their provisions, are incorporated one with the other and also argues that neither agreement contains a merger clause. In order to evaluate this, an examination of the entire agreement for both documents is important to ascertain whether the parties intended that the two documents are to be incorporated, one with the other.

The parties' Contract for Sale in the first instance was for the purpose of contractually binding the seller to sell and the purchaser to buy an identified piece of improved property for a sum certain and to provide details such as a closing date, payment of earnest money, homeowner association charges, limited warranty to be issued later, termite inspection, risk of loss, financing, real estate commissions, arbitration and miscellaneous details related to Respondent's purchase of the home.

The StrucSure Home Warranty application was signed by Respondent on December 18, 2015, five months after the Contract for Sale was signed. The StrucSure Home Warranty was an, "Express Limited Warranty Coverage One-Year Workmanship Materials, Two-Year Delivery Portion of Systems and 10-Year Major Structural Defects." (R. at 192). The Warranty is detailed in describing its limits, the homeowner's duties and responsibilities, exclusions and a full explanation of the areas of construction, as site work, concrete, masonry, carpentry, thermal and moisture protection, doors and windows, finishes, specialties (fireplaces), equipment, mechanical systems, heating, air conditioning, ductwork, electrical system, plumbing and a separate section discussing, "Major Structural Defect Coverage." (R. at 200–211, 213). The document also

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