THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-001598

Case No. 2018-CP-40-00873

Jonathan Mart, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated,..... Respondent,

v.

Great Southern Homes, Inc.,..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Charles H. McDonald [SC Bar # 11580]
McDonald Law, LLC
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 999-1260

June 11, 2019

Terry E. Richardson, Jr. [SC Bar # 4721]
Matthew A. Nickles [SC Bar # 80364]
Brady R. Thomas [SC Bar # 72530]

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

B. The circuit court correctly found that the arbitration clauses of the Contract For Sale and the Express Limited Warranty both cover the claims asserted by Respondent against Appellant.

Sale; however, it is not a **separate** agreement as it springs directly from the Contract For Sale’s references thereto and the sale of the home. Mart has consistently taken this position throughout these proceedings.

⁴ The Express Limited Warranty states “This Express Limited Warranty is separate and apart from any contracts between You and Your Builder, including any sales agreement.” (R. p. 295, Mart Aff. Ex. 1)

⁵ As a member of StrucSure’s home warranty program, Great Southern pays StrucSure Home Warranty any fees associated with the StrucSure Express Limited Warranty based on a set formula related to the sales price of the home. (R. p. 295, Defendant’s Reply Memorandum filed June 11, 2018, Ex. 4.)

The respective arbitration clauses in the Contract For Sale and the Express Limited Warranty are very broad in nature and cover the same scope of claims and disputes. They are both designed to cover virtually any claim or dispute that might arise between a purchaser and Appellant. For example, both arbitration clauses cover claims for breach of contract and issues relating to the sale of the home which are the very claims asserted by Respondent in the Complaint.

Appellant seeks to differentiate these arbitration provisions and argues that only the arbitration clause in the Contract For Sale governs the claims asserted by Respondent in this action. However, this argument falls apart in the face of the language of the arbitration provision in the Express Limited Warranty which reads:

The parties to the Express Limited Warranty intend and agree that **any and all claims, disputes and controversies by or between the Homeowner, the Builder, the Administrator, and/or the Insurer, or any combination of the foregoing, arising out of or related to the Express Limited Warranty . . . or the sale of the subject home by the Builder, including without limitation, any claim of breach of contract . . . or breach of any alleged duty of good faith and fair dealing**, shall be settled by arbitration in a manner consistent with this arbitration agreement.

(R. p. 215, Mart Aff. Ex. A (emphasis added).) It is beyond dispute that the scope of the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty covers claims arising out of and relating to the Contract For Sale including those asserted by Respondent in this action.

Indeed, South Carolina law is clear that an arbitration provision in a home warranty plan can apply to claims arising under the purchase agreement. *See Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 7-9, 791 S.E.2d 128, 131-32 (2016) (holding that scope of arbitration clause in warranty for new home purchase was not limited to claims covered by warranty, even though clause was located in warranty, and thus scope of clause was broad enough to encompass homeowners' claims for breach of purchase agreement).

As was the case in *Parsons*, the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty is broad in scope and expressly encompasses claims relating to breach of the parties' purchase agreement. Thus, it is clear that both the arbitration clause in the Contract For Sale and the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty encompass the claims asserted by Respondent in this action.

Appellant spends significant time arguing the distinctions between the respective purposes of the Contract For Sale and the Express Limited Warranty which are obvious. However, there is no meaningful distinction between the purposes of the two arbitration clauses. Moreover, while Appellant is correct that Respondent's claims in this action do not relate to any construction defects addressed by the Express Limited Warranty, that is of no moment when it comes to the respective arbitration clauses. Because, as discussed above, the scope of the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty goes far beyond claims for construction defects and clearly extends to any claims arising out of the Contract For Sale.

II. The circuit court correctly found that without a meeting of the minds as to a procedure to resolve disputes through arbitration, there is no arbitration agreement to enforce.

Whether a valid arbitration agreement exists is a matter for judicial determination. *Partain v. Upstate Auto Grp.*, 386 S.C. 488, 491, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010); *see Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 23–24, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007) (finding a “gateway matter” to arbitrability is the existence of an agreement to arbitrate). In making this determination, trial courts consider “general contract defenses” to ensure that a meeting of the minds to arbitrate existed, and that such an agreement was not the result of “fraud, duress, [or] unconscionability.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 593, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001); *see also NAACP of Camden East v. Foulke Mgmt. Corp.*, 421 N.J. Super. 404, 424-25 (N.J. App. Div. 2011) (finding that an agreement to arbitrate must be the result of a “meeting of the minds” and that “clarity and internal consistency of a contract’s arbitration provisions are

important factors in determining whether a party reasonably understood those provisions and agreed to be bound by them.”) State contract law determines whether parties entered into a valid agreement to arbitrate a set of claims. *Weckesser v. Knight Enters. S.E., LLC*, 228 F. Supp. 3d 561, 564 (D.S.C. 2017), *aff’d*, No. 17-1247, 2018 WL 2972665 (4th Cir. June 12, 2018) (“Whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a particular dispute is a question of state law governing contract formation.”) (citing *First Options of Chi., Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S.Ct. 1920, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995)); *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, No. CA 3:11-888-CMC, 2011 WL 4089435, at *5 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011) (citing *Hill v. PeopleSoft USA, Inc.*, 412 F.3d 540, 543 (4th Cir.2005) (and noting that, even when the FAA governs, state law controls whether a dispute is arbitrable which are issues of contract formation)).

“South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to *all* essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989) (emphasis in original); *see also Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Mkt., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct.App.1987) (“It is well settled in South Carolina that in order for there to be a binding contract between parties, there must be a mutual manifestation of assent to the terms.”). And where material terms of a contract are inconsistent and conflicting, there is no meeting of the minds. *See York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 67, 83, 749 S.E.2d 139, 147 (Ct. App. 2013) (acknowledging where arbitration agreements provided for conflicting and inconsistent material terms, it would be unenforceable for lack of mutual assent thereto).

- A. Great Southern’s Contract For Sale and Express Limited Warranty contain two conflicting arbitration agreements that cannot be reconciled.**
 - i. The two arbitration clauses govern the same scope of claims and disputes.**

As discussed above, both arbitration clauses are very broad in nature and cover the same scope of claims and disputes. They are both designed to cover virtually any claim or dispute that might arise between a purchaser and Great Southern.

ii. The two arbitration clauses have conflicting provisions as to the selection of any arbitrator(s), as to the number of arbitrators, and as to the governing procedures for arbitration.

The arbitration clause in the Contract For Sale requires proceeding with three arbitrators with each party appointing an arbitrator and those two arbitrators appointing a third arbitrator. (R. p. 33, Complaint, Ex.1 at “Arbitration”.) The arbitration procedure is that set forth in the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. (*Id.*) However, the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty requires using an independent arbitration service such as Construction Dispute Resolution Services. (R. p. 215, Mart Aff.; Ex. A at p. 22.) The arbitration procedure shall be that specified by the independent arbitration service and the Federal Arbitration Act. (*Id.*) The method of selecting an arbitrator under the clause in the Express Limited Warranty is not specified, but in the absence of any provision in the rules of the independent arbitration service as to arbitrator selection, it would follow the Federal Arbitration Act under which the judge appoints a single arbitrator. *See* 9 U.S.C.A. § 5.

iii. The two arbitration clauses differ in post-award remedies.

Under the Express Limited Warranty, a homeowner such as Mart has a right to appeal the decision of any arbitrator on the merits. The Express Limited Warranty states that “[i]f the Homeowner disagrees with the Arbitrator’s decision, s/he has the right to appeal it.” [R. p. 216, Mart Aff.; Ex. A at p. 23.] Under South Carolina’s Uniform Arbitration Act, Mart would have no right of appeal and very limited grounds on which to seek to vacate an arbitration award. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-120-200 (providing limited grounds and specific procedures upon

which a court can review and vacate or modify an arbitration award). Thus, Respondent would have much more expansive rights to challenge any arbitration award under the arbitration clause of the Express Limited Warranty than under the arbitration provisions of the Contract For Sale.

iv. The two arbitration clauses have conflicting provisions related to arbitration costs and fees.

Under the Contract For Sale's arbitration clause, there is no initial filing fee required to initiate arbitration. (R. p. 33, Complaint Ex. 1 at "Arbitration.") However, under the Express Limited Warranty's arbitration clause, the Homeowner bears the initial burden of all arbitration costs including the filing fees to be paid to the independent arbitration service. (R. p. 215, Mart Aff.; Ex. A, Section 15 at p. 22.)

v. The conflicting provisions in the respective arbitration clauses are material and irreconcilable.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the designation of a specific arbitral forum is a material term of an arbitration agreement. *Grant v. Magnolia Manor–Greenwood, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 125, 128-32, 678 S.E.2d 435, 437-39 (2009) ("Where designation of a specific arbitral forum has implications that may substantially affect the substantive outcome of the resolution, we believe that it is neither 'logistical' nor 'ancillary.'") When there are two separate arbitration clauses that differ as to the procedures for selecting an arbitrator, differ on the number of arbitrators to be used, and further differ on the procedure and rules that govern the arbitration, an irreconcilable conflict exists regarding material terms of arbitration. *See Grant*, 383 S.C. at 131-32, 678 S.E.2d at 439. This conclusion is supported by opinions reached by courts in other jurisdictions when addressing the same issues present here.

Applying Mississippi law, a federal bankruptcy court found that the parties did not agree to arbitrate where two arbitration agreements applied to the same claims but provided for

inconsistent terms regarding, among other things, the number of arbitrators, the process of how the arbitrator(s) were to be selected, and the responsibility for payment of arbitration costs and fees. *In re Willis*, 579 B.R. 381, 390-95 (S.D. Miss. 2017). Similarly, in *Ragab v. Howard*, 841 F.3d 1134, 1138 (10th Cir. 2016), the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals held that conflicting provisions in multiple arbitration clauses regarding which rules would govern and how the arbitrator would be selected demonstrated no meeting of the minds on material terms of arbitration. Applying this logic to the same type of conflicting arbitration provisions as are present in this case, this Court should find the conflicts in the respective arbitration clauses material and irreconcilable.

B. There was no mutual assent as to the material terms of arbitration; and, therefore, no enforceable arbitration agreement between Respondent and Appellant.

The above comparisons demonstrate that the two arbitration clauses cannot be construed in harmony with each other. There is simply no way to determine which of these conflicting arbitration provisions would control and govern the procedure for arbitrating the claims Respondent asserts against Appellant. Appellant suggests that Respondent could simply chose to proceed under the arbitration clause of his choice thereby avoiding any conflict.⁶ However, this argument is belied by Appellant’s vigorous denial that the arbitration clause in the Express Limited Warranty applies to Respondent’s claims in any respect. In addition, the presence of

⁶ Appellant contends that “it is uncontested that the arbitration provisions in both the parties’ Contract for Sale and the StrucSure Home Warranty were not unconscionable and did not lack any material terms, there existed a meeting of the minds in 2015 that Mart would choose either document under which to proceed.” (Br. of App. at 12). While the circuit court’s order did not address the issue of whether any terms in the arbitration clauses were unconscionable, Respondent did not concede this point and, in fact, raised unconscionability as grounds for not enforcing the arbitration clauses in its opposition to Appellant’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 181-86, Mart’s Memorandum in Opposition to Great Southern’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration.)

conflicting arbitration clauses in a contract covering the same scope of claims creates ambiguity as to which clause is the clause under which a party is to proceed with initiating the arbitration process. Courts have held that in such situation, the ambiguities must be resolved against the drafter (Great Southern) and any presumption in favor of arbitration disappears. *See Weckesser*, 228 F. Supp. 3d at 564-65.

For the first time on appeal, Appellant raises the issue that the presence of a “merger” clause in both the Contract For Sale and the Express Limited Warranty demonstrates error in the circuit court’s ruling that the arbitration clauses found in the respective documents should both be construed as applying to the Respondent’s claims. In its brief, Appellant asserts such error is grounds for reversal of the circuit court’s Order. (Br. of App., “Argument II” at p. 13-20.) Because Appellant failed to raise this issue in the court below, it has not been preserved for review and Appellant may not raise it on appeal for the first time. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564-65, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510-11 (2006). Accordingly, this issue is not properly before this court and should not be considered as grounds for reversal of the circuit court’s Order.⁷

However, even if this issue was preserved for review on appeal, Appellant’s argument regarding the presence of merger clauses in the Contract For Sale and the Express Limited Warranty is misplaced. The merger clauses cited by Appellant do not provide instruction on which arbitration provision takes precedence over the other or which provision supersedes the other. *See Ragab*, 841 F.3d at 1138 (finding that in absence of provision specifying which arbitration clause takes precedence or supersedes another, the court cannot arbitrarily pick one over another.) Accordingly, there was no mutual assent, or meeting of the minds, as to the

⁷ Notably, Appellant did not file a Rule 59(e) motion seeking a ruling from the trial court on this issue. *See Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (“A party *must* file [a Rule 59(e) motion] when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, on order to preserve it for appellate review.” (emphasis in original).)

material terms of arbitration.